

UFV

FUNARBE

AKSAAM



DIMENSIONS OF DEVELOPMENT AND CAPACITY BUILDING IN AGENDA SETTING FOR FAMILY FARMING



AUTHORS

Ficha catalográfica elaborada pela Seção de Catalogação e Classificação da Biblioteca Central da Universidade Federal de Viçosa

F383d 2023

Ferreira, Marco Aurélio Marques, 1976-Dimensions of development and capacity building in agenda setting for family farming [recurso eletrônico] / Marco Aurélio Marques Ferreira, Juliana Maria de Araújo ; Marcelo José Braga, coordenador -- Viçosa, MG : UFV, IPPDS, 2023. 1 livro eletrônico (62 p.) : il. color.

Texto em inglês. Disponível em: https://aksaam.ufv.br/publicacoes Bibliografia : p. 54-59. ISBN 978-85-60601-22-6

1. Agricultura familiar. 2. Desenvolvimento rural. 3. Desenvolvimento sustentável. I. Araújo, Juliana Maria de, 1991-. II. Braga, Marcelo José, 1969-. III. Fundo Internacional de Desenvolvimento Agrícola. IV. Fundação Arthur Bernardes. V. Universidade Federal de Viçosa. Instituto de Políticas Públicas e Desenvolvimento Sustentável. Projeto Adaptando Conhecimento para a Agricultura Sustentável e o Acesso a Mercados. VI. Título.

CDD 22. ed. 338.1

Bibliotecária responsável: Bruna Silva CRB6/2552

DIMENSIONS OF DEVELOPMENT AND CAPACITY BUILDING IN AGENDA SETTING FOR FAMILY FARMING

Coordenador: Marcelo José Braga

Autoria: Juliana Maria de Araújo, Marco Aurélio Marques Ferreira

Revisão Linguística:

Layout, diagramação e capa: Adriana Freitas e Letícia Ribeiro lanhez Tradução:



Marco Aurélio Marques Ferreira

Postdoctoral researcher in Public Administration, Doctor and Master in Applied Economics and Bachelor in Administration. Full Professor at the Federal University of Viçosa and coordinator of the Center for Studies in Public Administration, Government and Society (NAPGS/UFV).

Contact: marcoaurelio@ufv.br



Juliana Maria de Araújo

Master in Administration and Bachelor in Accounting Sciences. Currently, she is a PhD student in Administration at the Federal University of Viçosa. Researcher at the Center for Studies in Administration, Government and Society (NAPGS/UFV).

Contact: juliana.m.araujo@ufv.br

table of contents

Preface	7
A new agenda setting for family farming	
Dimensions of development and agriculture	12
The agenda setting	22
1. Family succession	24
2. Digital transformation in agriculture	28
3. Access to land and land regularization	32
4. Climate changes	36
5. Gender equity	40
6. Food and nutrition security	44
7. Agroecology	49
Final Remarks	53
References	54

Appendix I. Research Methodological Note

PREFACE

The history of family farming cannot be distinguished from the history of the formation of the national territory and, therefore, is directly related to the process of social, economic and environmental development of our nation.

Since the beginning of the process of occupation of the Brazilian territory, family farming has not been duly considered by the State in formulating the country's development model.

In fact, it took a long time for family farming to become relevant on the federal government's decision-making agenda, as it did not meet the development model advocated by the dominant political elite in periods of growth or modernization of agriculture.

Family farming was and still is misunderstood by many sectors as subsistence farming and, in this regard, remained for a long time on the sidelines of State public policies, with residual actions of agricultural policies as a whole¹.

This negligence and lack of prestige in formulating the political agenda fueled a cycle of inequalities and regional disparities that demand short- and long-term structural actions to be interrupted. Facing this problem becomes necessary for the country to be able to advance in levels of development compatible with the desired standard.

These discussions between development, capacity building and agenda setting will underpin this document. We hope that this text provokes concerns and reflections in social actors capable of influencing the trajectory of Brazilian family farming. We wish that it supports parliamentary actions and government plans by secretariats and ministries, and that it encourages joint efforts by national and international bodies and agencies committed to family farming and the collective benefits it generates for our planet. In addition, this document can encourage actions and greater engagement by the private sector and philanthropic institutions, towards the development and strengthening of family farming.

The authors

a new agenda setting for family farming

Even suffering, with historical exceptions, with the neglect of the political agenda setting of different governments, from the colony to redemocratization, researchers and policy makers are in consensus on the importance of family farming in regional development. For this reason, it is the main object of attention and promotion of multiple national and international actors, such as the UN, and, in particular, the International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD). IFAD operates in Brazil since the 1980s, with the aim of increasing the production and income of family farmers by facilitating their access to essential services, strengthening their organizations and connecting them to markets2.

This is due to the role that family farming plays in overcoming poverty, in better income distribution, in retaining the rural population in the countryside, in nutrition and food security, in the productive occupation of land, in maintaining economic activity in rural areas, in preserving the environment, among many other contributions to global sustainability.

Such contributions go far beyond economic accounting, as in the case of the preservation of historical and cultural heritage and the preservation of traditions in planting, cultivation and management in different regions of the country, passed on through many generations.

A fact that inserts family farming into political development discussions, but which, depending on the prevailing ideology among rulers and dominant political groups, is disqualified in the guidelines for the execution and implementation of public policies and, especially, in the composition of the budget plan and in the appropriation of a share from the public budget.

Promoting inclusive and sustainable rural development by supporting family farmers is a topic as old as the country itself. Before the occupation of the national territory, natives already had extensive knowledge of soil management and subsistence cultivation. Historical credit must be given to indigenous peoples for their role in the conservation and sustainable management of natural resources. Their deep, varied and locally rooted knowledge can help the world adapt and mitigate the consequences of climate change while maintaining productive and sustainable agriculture3,4.

Most of our daily consumption foods have their origin and name derived from the cultivation traditions and culinary knowledge of indigenous peoples. Some examples are: Pineapple, Açaí, Aipim, Baiacu Jerimum, Cassava, Pitanga, Porridge, Moqueca, Paçoca, Popcorn, Pirarucu, Urucum among many others.5. Furthermore, indigenous peoples have unique food systems, anchored in sustainable subsistence practices, which are adapted to the specific ecosystems of their territories4. However, the loss of biodiversity in the food system, combined with the increase in the consumption of industrialized foods by indigenous peoples, lead to an increase in their levels of malnutrition, especially among women6.

It must be noted that many indigenous peoples have developed sophisticated production systems that range from mastering agricultural calendars based on astrology, to selection systems, soil management and crop diversification7.

Figure 1. Multiple Streams Model.



Between this remote origin and the intensified regional disparities in the context of contemporary family farming, there were a few windows of opportunity for prioritizing family farming on the national public policy agenda, as an important instrument in the development process.

The moment we are experiencing is one of those rare opportunities that brings together all the elements necessary for the progress required to introduce an agenda for change As well described in the multiple streams model8, a window of opportunity arises through the streams of problems, solutions and political context, as outlined in Figure 1.

TREAM

Cceptance by the erable costs.

National mood; Organized political forces; Government changes.

NDOWS

of flows.

ETTINE
blic problem ent agenda.
in Kingdon

We clearly identified a series of problems experienced or intensified by the setback of the priority agenda for family farming, as well as by the weakening or dismantling of some of the main public policies for the sector. On the other hand, there is experience and accumulated knowledge that allows the development of projects, actions and public policies with a multisectoral approach, between public and private actors in the short and long term.

At this point, we have observed the sharing of responsibilities between different social actors, from the local to the international scope, for the implementation of technically viable and financially sustainable actions.

In favor of this, there are leaders who are committed to the topic, which have the legitimacy and support to implement a public policy agenda aligned with the SDG-17. As examples, we cite the fight against hunger and rural poverty, the promotion of health and well-being, quality education and gender equality, among other topics of direct or transversal interest to family farming.

The combination of these factors, as illustrated in the model above, opens a window to a new agricultural development agenda that highlights family farming and a solid articulation with rural movements as one of its central pillars. In this context, with strategic focus and regionalized priorities, aligned with the country's territorial reality. Among these priorities are the North and Northeast regions, which lack better programmatic guidance and synergy between the different sectoral public policies. That is, it is not just about family farming, but also a set of dimensions and capabilities that dialogue directly with it, based on regional experiences and the network of actors in local communities.

In retrospect, the failure of some of the previous regional development programs may be attributed to the fact that the experience accumulated by the local communities themselves was not considered. Nor were local and traditional knowledge duly valued.

The case of the indigenous peoples from the Amazon, as highlighted in specialized studies, illustrates this context very well. Before colonization, the coexistence of indigenous peoples with the ecosystem occurred in a sustainable way, thus maintaining different peoples in very well-preserved ecosystems for ages7,9. In addition to the contribution of indigenous peoples to environmental preservation, one can stress the contribution of traditional knowledge, socio-biodiversity and indigenous food systems to the provision of food and healthy diets4.

This historical wealth diverges from the agricultural nature of many regions in

the North and Northeast, exposing the institutional fragility of the State. Especially regarding the duty to preserve the culture, physical integrity and quality of life of the original peoples, as portrayed in the tragedy experienced by the Yanomami people in recent years and made public in early 2023.

Considering that the birthplace of sustainable practices in Brazilian family farming is the scene of a humanitarian tragedy that generates malnutrition, hunger, and the contamination of rivers and soils by illegal mining activities, there is an opportunity to rethink the political and executive agenda of makeover, support and promotion of family farming initiatives. In particular, in the Amazon and Caatinga biomes, predominant in the North and Northeast regions of Brazil that suffer from severe discrepancies in terms of development, when compared to other regions of the country.

The design of a new agenda must start from these differences to propose means and actions, not lodging in them as a stereotyped vision of competitive patterns of models for national agriculture.

As stated by Hurtienne10 the perception of the Amazonian agriculture as being itinerant, unproductive, harmful to the environment and condemned by the advance of large properties, for example, is challenged by the evidence and consolidation trends of



family farming based on complex production systems. Such ecosystems include permanent cultures and small livestock, and are able to coexist in harmony with the existing fauna and flora and, in this way, contribute to development in its multiple economic, social and environmental dimensions.

The main objective of this document is to propose reflections like this one and induce concrete actions in favor of family farming, based on secondary data from two sources: official information and statistics, and studies on the subject published by different authors.

In addition to this introductory section, this document consists of four other sections. In the second section, we explore the differences in the level of development by Brazilian macro-regions, emphasizing the most vulnerable elements in the North and Northeast regions and their relationship with family farming. In the third section, we present some of the central topics for setting up an agenda for family farming and regional development. For the last two sections, we use the global agenda on sustainable development goals (SDG-17) as a guiding reference, with emphasis on the objectives most relevant to the purpose of this document

Dimensions of development and agriculture

In Brazil, the development process was not only greatly influenced by the direct role of the State in agriculture, but also, indirectly, by the development of structuring capacities. After several decades of diverse intervention models, the differences in Brazilian regional development are evident, enabling the observance of characteristic traits between macro-regions and biomes (Figure 2). Obviously, the balance of regional disparities is not credited exclusively to the agricultural policy account, although it has always played a relevant part in this process.

Starting from Abramovay's perspective11 that rural development cannot be conceived as a simple expansion of agricultural activities, we will explore other dimensions associated with development and quality of life. In particular, those that will support the achievement of sustainable development goals, with special attention to topics of interest to family farming.

There is a huge variety of factors that lead to different levels of development. In most cases, the North and Northeast regions of Brazil are at a clear disadvantage. Such regions have a higher concentration of smallholdings. It is important to note that the lowest levels of development (in red

in Figure 2) are mainly concentrated in the northern and northeastern Brazil and in the regions with predominance of the Amazon, Caatinga and upper part of the Cerrado and Atlantic Forest biomes.



Source: Research indicators, according to the methodological note.

The lower level of development in the North and Northeast regions is directly related to the development process of national agriculture. Family farming was left out of the agricultural modernization processes implemented in the 1960s and 1970s, which introduced a model that favored capitalized sectors, focused on commodities, which could contribute to the trade balance1,12.

This factor contributes, in part, to the understanding of similarities between agricultural models and levels of socioeconomic development. In fact, the adopted



Source: Research indicators, according to methodological note.

model prioritized the concentration of land, the exploitation of labor and the consequent degradation of the central foundations of human development1,12.

As a consequence, modernization contributed to greater social exclusion and the expansion of regional inequalities since family farming was left out of this process. Among the numerous factors that expanded inequality, it is worth noting that access to new technologies was oriented towards those who had agriculture as an economic activity, making it impossible for small holders to have access to new productive technologies13.

Therefore, the current relationship between agriculture and regional development is also the result of the State's inefficiency and its low capacity to develop agendas and propose actions adapted to the different regional realities. This is due to the hegemonic model of public policy design, in which the budgetary concentration for agricultural policies is the responsibility of the federal government, which does not always elect its priorities in direct response to these needs. Such facts have direct consequences on the persistence of regional inequalities and on the indiscriminate exploitation of indigenous lands and forests, in addition to the direct benefit of specific groups, capable of exerting political pressure.14.

With this, the formulation of policies at the national level takes place through a top-down implementation. Some of them captured by interest groups and historical patrimonialism and, therefore, little adaptable to regional and local needs. As a consequence of low levels of development, there is greater exposure to conditions of socio-environmental vulnerability in some specific regions (Figure 3).

From these two dimensions, it is possible to infer the clear spatial relationship between some key variables in this process of development and vulnerability, namely: the biome, the macro-region and the concentration of family farming establishments. The lowest development levels are observed, predominantly, in the Caatinga and Amazon biomes and in the states of the North and Northeast regions, with ramifications in the Atlantic Forest and Cerrado biomes. Precisely in regions where there is a strong presence and concentration of family farming.

Nessa abordagem de análise, fica claro que os agricultores familiares não se diferenciam apenas em relação à disponibilidade de recursos e às limitações de geração de renda e riqueza. In this analytical approach, it is evident that family farmers do not differ only in terms of the availability of resources and limitations in generating income and wealth. They also differ in terms of potentialities and restrictions on the use of acquired learning, such as environmental and socioeconomic insertion, influenced, among other factors, by the location and particular features of the environment in which they are inserted15. Essential conditions for human development, given the lack of policies integrated with agriculture and the rural environment, such as health and basic sanitation capacities (Figure 4).

Figure 4. Health Capacity (a) and Access to sanitation (b).



Source: Research indicators, according to methodological note

Note that the North and Northeast regions have, on average, worse conditions in terms of access to sanitation and health capacities. Factors that, as will be detailed below, interact directly with the priority agenda for family farming.

It is, therefore, a holistic view in which agriculture conditions and is conditioned by important dimensions of sustainable development. In this perspective, as Brazil is a federal state with immense biodiversity, it is opportune to analyze the development perspectives, based on these sections of biomes and regions, in different dimensions, as a way of outlining the geopolitical, economic, social and environmental context for the formation of family farming agenda.

It is intended to describe how these regions and biomes behave for different dimensions of development, making it possible to extend the concept of development beyond the material aspect of family farming.

It is also an approach consistent with the elaboration of public agendas, since the federative entities with political, managerial, administrative and self-government capacities are the municipalities, the states, the federal district and the Union. Of these, it is in the municipalities, as the smallest administrative unit, that the variables that make up the outlined dimensions are collected.

These dimensions are summarized as:

- Municipal Development
- Social and Environmental Vulnerability
- Child and Nutritional Vulnerability
- Health Capacity
- PUblic Investment capacity
- Operational capacity in Agriculture
- Technical Assistance in Agriculture
- Women's Engagement Potential
- Educational Potential
- ACCESS to Sanitation
- Environment and Sustainability

Among the possibilities for correcting the asymmetries related to agricultural development, there is the access to technical assistance and agricultural technology (Figure 5). The dimension of technical assistance and technology in agriculture shows that this is a general limitation for all regions, although the worst indicators are observed for the North and Northeast regions. Among the biomes, in addition to the Amazon and the Caatinga, the upper part of the Atlantic Forest and the Cerrado are regions that require greater attention from policy makers.

With regard to emancipatory and essential capacities for the development of quality of life, disparities are also noted at the regional level, in a clear overlapping of vulnerability in areas of concentration of family farming in the North and Northeast regions of Brazil. Among these dimensions, education, and child and nutritional vulnerability (Figure 6) are symbolic, as they particularly affect children and young people who, as will be shown below, form capacities for the intergenerational eradication of poverty and the improvement of the succession process in family farming.



60°W

45°W





Figure 6. Educational Potential (a) and Child and Nutritional Vulnerability (b). Source: Research indicators, according to the methodological note.

Figure 5. Technical assistance in agriculture by Biome (a) and Macro-region (b).

Source: Research indicators, according to the methodological note



These dimensions are also essential to support other cross-cutting agendas that we will discuss later, such as the introduction of technologies, the improvement of the means of production, the active participation of young people, as well as the promotion of actions for gender equality.

When it comes to development, the aspect of inclusion and women's empowerment is necessary to guide any policy aimed at family farming. This requires the existence of capacities to enhance this dimension.

However, it is observed that in the Northeast region, with emphasis on the Caatinga biome, the upper part of the Cerrado and the Atlantic Forest, there are greater contextual limitations for the development of women's engagement potential (Figure 7). Among the elements that contribute to this reality are cultural factors, gender-based division of labor and the historical difficulty women face in becoming protagonists in work activities, especially with regard to family farming. This is not an exclusive limitation of these regions, but it stands out in comparison to the others.

Figure 7. Women's Engagement Potential.



Source: Research indicators, according to the methodological note.

In other aspects directly related to agriculture, some dimensions deserve attention. Among them, the public investment capacity at the local level and the operational capacity of agriculture (Figure 8) reveal great asymmetries, disfavoring the North, Northeast and part of the Brazilian Southeast regions.



Figure 8. Operational Capacity in Agriculture (a) and Public Investment Capacity (b). Source: Research indicators, according to methodological note.

The total number of existing tractors, implements and machines per 100 agricultural establishments measured the operational capacity of agriculture. Used as a proxy for agricultural mechanization, it highlights, on the one hand, the intensity of capital and technology as important elements for expanding the productive potential of family farming.



The means of provision with public resources are: local public policy, which demands municipal financial capacity; and budget transfer. The latter, resulting from public policies or budget amendments, especially parliamentary ones. In both, there is a clear disadvantage for the regions of predominance of the Amazon and Caatinga biomes and the upper part of the Atlantic Forest and the Cerrado.

Precisely in those biomes and regions that have lower levels of assistance, the State has limitations in providing and training technical capacities. This can be evidenced by the little success of these regions in signing agreements for agricultural mechanization through budget amendments in the last legislature (2019-2022), as shown in Figure 9.

The least contemplated regions are the North and Northeast, where there is a greater

concentration of family farming establishments, in contrast to the South and Southeast regions. As a relevant part of these demands comes from Federal Deputies and legislative groups, the second part of Figure 9 shows the ratio of agreements to the number of Federal Deputies in each state. It is not surprising that the states of the South, Southeast and Center-west, with few exceptions, were more contemplated.

Considering the idea that amendments are a budgetary resource also aimed at correcting asymmetry and building capacities, a great institutional weakness of this instrument is observed. To illustrate, there are differences in the performance of states such as Rio Grande do Sul, with approximately 44 allocations per federal deputy, and Maranhão, where approximately 1 allocation is observed, on average, for the entire legislature (2019-2022).

Figure 9. Mechanization Agreements (a) and Mechanization Agreements by Federal Deputies (b).



Source: Research indicators, according to the methodological note.

Differences in the recommended and promoted models of agriculture are largely responsible for these disparities. It is evident that the Brazilian agricultural panorama presents strong contradictions, since, in the same territory, two very different models cohabit.

On the one hand, we have high-productivity agribusiness, focused especially on monoculture and exports. On the other hand, there is family farming, which, due to regional disparities and different levels of development, reflects old social problems such as land concentration, lack of infrastructure and poverty in the countryside12.

Agribusiness and agroecology, based on the sustainable use of natural resources, are antagonistic forms of agricultural activity in terms of their relationship with the environment, established work relationships and the destination of production16. Encouraged by the state for economic reasons and the media for ideological reasons, the hegemony of agribusiness exacerbates violence against vulnerable traditional communities, such as quilombolas, indigenous peoples and peasants17. Large corporations involved in agribusiness hold financial resources and develop biotechnology, extending the capitalist model to the agricultural sector, accumulating wealth, promoting environmental degradation, imposing monocultures and encouraging the concentration of land16,17. Practices that are little suited to the environmental conditions of the North and Northeast and to the conditions of family farmers in these localities.

As explained above, it is not just about access to land, but fundamentally about a set of public policies, capacities and potentialities that require the joint efforts of the most different actors committed to the promotion of family farming. Access to land is one of the necessary, but not sufficient, basic conditions for changing this scenario. It only makes sense if accompanied by access to a set of conditions that alter the local and regional institutional environment, which allow the revelation of the potentials with which each territory can participate in the development process11.

Therefore, in order to achieve the 2030 Agenda and its Sustainable Development Goals, especially those related to the main topic of this document (such as SDG 1 -Eradication of poverty; SDG 2 - Zero Hunger and Sustainable Agriculture and SDG 15 -Terrestrial Life, Terrestrial Ecosystems and Biodiversity), family farming needs to be duly considered in public policy agendas at municipal, state and, fundamentally, federal levels. It is important to highlight that other SDGs are also relevant for family farming, such as gender equality (SDG 5), clean water and sanitation (SDG 6), reduction of inequalities (SDG 10) and action against global climate change - in the case of low-carbon agriculture (SDG 13).

Family farming must drive instead of tow this development process. Therefore, it needs to be well represented in the composition of the first levels of government and in the legislative branch, to participate actively in the budget elaboration, with priority programs and projects for the sector. This obviously requires technical expertise and support from civil society. These questions are favored by the historical moment.

Aiming to contribute to this aspect, the third section of this work discusses some of the central topics for the development of a new public policy agenda for family farming.

THE AGENDA SETTING

The 1990s were remarkable for the formulation of an Agenda for Family Farming (AFF), in particular, with the establishment of state and institutional capacities for the implementation of public policies for the sector.

This became possible in two ways: i) first, through recognition of family farming as a social and political category by the State18; ii) second, the introduction of important public policies for the sector, such as the National Program for Strengthening Family Agriculture (PRONAF) in 1996.

Therefore, from the mid-1990s onwards, Family Farming became relevant in the public policy agenda aimed at agriculture, although this agenda varied according to the current government plan and the governor in office.

Figure 10. Agenda for family farming Source: elaborated by the authors.



Family succession

climate changes



ACCESS to land and land regularization

According to the literature consulted, there is evidence that family farming contributes to the improvement of economic, social and environmental sustainability conditions via collaborative strategic action within each of these topics. Among the most important topics on this agenda, we have chosen the ones that we consider to be decisive for the elaboration of public policies. Among the inclusion criteria are:

> i) the strong presence of these themes in technical discussions and specialized texts in the area;

ii) the potential effects on the development of family farming and on the quality of life of rural communities; and

iii) the possibility of concrete partnership actions between the public and private sectors, and international and national agencies and organizations.

O resultante dessa seleção aponta para sete temas prioritários na formação da AAF ao longo dos próximos anos, como esboçado na Figure 10:



Family farming features place it as a central asset in the execution of public policies on topics such as development, environment, sustainability and mitigation of climate change effects. Therefore, it is up to public policy makers, in partnership with the private sector and the third sector, to introduce integrated projects and programs within each of these topics, in addition to structuring transversal actions.

FAMILY SUCCESSION

SUCESSÃO FAMILIAR

In formulating the public policy agenda for family farming, generational succession is a problem to be addressed.

This topic is directly related to social issues that the State must face, such as infrastructure, access to quality education and internet, consumption of cultural goods, gender equity and the expansion of economic opportunities and human development for young people who live in rural areas. All of these elements affect, directly or indirectly, the youth's interest in remaining in rural areas and in maintaining and expanding the family's agricultural enterprise.

Recent studies on Brazilian rural development emphasize the intense migration of rural youth who leave the countryside in search of better study

opportunities, decent work conditions and income, with a fixed salary and social security, which implies a trend of rural emptying in the next years19.

The widespreavd abandonment from family farming youth, in any region, represents a collapse in the local productive system and the maintenance of the productive and cultural heritage accumulated in the region.

According to the results of the 2017 Agricultural Census, the youngest, aged between 25 and 35, make up 9.48% of the population in rural areas. This number is far below the 13.56% of the previous census. On the other hand, in the 55 to 65 age group, there was an increase from 20% to 24%. This reinforces a weakening pattern of agricultural labor and affects the process of rural succession.

"This requires that policy makers interconnect policies for family farming With other policies aimed at quality of life. gender equity, human development and the inclusion of young people in the daily decision-making of rural enterprises, rejuvenating family farming in the middle and long term"

[Family sucession]

Specifically regarding the northeastern semi-arid region, the comparison between the 2006 and 2017 Agricultural Censuses reinforces the decrease in the proportion of heads of establishments aged up to 45 years, while in the upper age strata, there was an increase in this percentage. This reflects the decrease in the percentage of young heads of agricultural establishments, generating uncertainties about the generational renewal of these establishments (Figure 11).

The absence of successors in family farming tends to generate uncertainties related not only to the continuity of families and productive activities, but also of rural communities, which gradually lose their population and begin to feel the consequences of this change on their social dynamics.

Studies demonstrate some of the main limiting factors or barriers in the succession process in family farming:

Figure 11: Variation in the proportion of family farming establishments in the northeastern semi-arid region in each age group (of the head of establishment) between the 2006 and 2017 agricultural censuses.



Source: Fortini²⁰.

lack of encouragement from parents

- low autonomy in the production process
- low level of access to information
- low economic revenue
- urban areas
- unfavorable socioeconomic context
- gender inequality
- difficulty in obtaining, regularizing or expanding land
- hardship of agricultural activities

Social and economic factors considerably influence young people's decision to leave family farming in search of better living conditions in urban centers. In many cases, the low income generated in rural establishments acts as a pressure factor for choosing urban work, even in precarious conditions, as highlighted by several authors27-30.

In many cases, rural exodus is not an option, but a need for survival and, sometimes, for family support. For this reason, the option for young people to stay on the rural



search for study and professional expectations in

comparison between urban and rural spaces

lack of involvement in the decision-making process

property or leave it is not simple, as the social context interferes in this decisionmaking process25.

This requires policy makers to interconnect policies aimed at family farming with other policies aimed at quality of life, gender equity, human development and the inclusion of young people in the daily decision-making of rural enterprises, rejuvenating family farming in the medium and long term.

DIGITAL TRANSFORMATION IN AGRICULTURE



Information and communication technologies (ICTs) are a set of integrated technological resources that provide, through hardware, software and telecommunications functions, interactions between people, business, research, and teaching and learning processes19.

It is known that digital technologies play an important role in agriculture as a whole and, in a special way, in family farming. The selection of suppliers, including joint purchasing, training and commercialization, has been significantly modified in the last two decades with the revolution experienced in the field of ICTs.

Farmers purchase products via joint purchase platforms, learn about improving planting, harvesting and processing techniques with online courses, and sell their products through websites, sales platforms or marketplaces, technologies that were intensified during the period of coping with the Covid-19 pandemic.

Currently, family farmers have the opportunity to participate in higher valueadded distribution chains and even in international markets with the use of ICTs.

However, due to different access conditions, the use of technologies is still not commonplace in Family Farming. In large-scale agricultural production, the use of ICTs and precision agriculture, on the rise with the implementation of 5G technology in Brazil, establishes another stage of modernization of agriculture, placing it in correspondence with the most modern in the world. At the other extreme are those who are excluded from this process of advancing ICTs. The gap between those who still lack basic infrastructure, such as access to the Internet, and those who have taken advantage of this process increases in many regions.

Many family farmers, especially those linked to associations and cooperatives, or benefited from development projects by NGOs or international agencies, are able to participate in this process through collective actions.

It is necessary to point out a series of elements that limit the advancement of ICTs among family farmers, several of which were mapped in studies31, 32 among which we highlight:

Cultural aspects;

• Low involvement and participation of farmers ;

• Low level of education of farmers;

• High costs;

• Lack of adequate infrastructure, including quality internet access and

• Resistance or distrust;

• Lack of adaptation of technologies to the local context.

Digital inclusion goes through the process of appropriation and adherence to ICTs by family farmers as a strategy to expand their own capabilities, as well as to develop new skills, which requires overcoming the highlighted limitations. It is not just about acquiring technological resources for interaction and communication, nor about bringing the internet access to family farmers. This is a necessary but not sufficient condition for inclusion. It is important to introduce these technologies in the scope of education and training contextualized to different local realities.

Digital inclusion in the countryside requires investment in infrastructure, availability of fixed internet, access to smartphones and quality internet, in addition to encouraging the private sector and partnerships to expand connectivity in the countryside33.

In the context of Covid-19, numerous

potentialities have emerged in terms of digital inclusion in rural areas. Elements such as access to the radio, one of the main means of communication used in the field, remote assistance to farmers, as well as the use of messaging applications, enabled the continuity of technical assistance, carried out remotely, conveying timely and quality information to farmers34.

In addition to ICTs, technology in rural areas is also related to access to electricity. In the case of the state of Maranhão, for example, most family farms still did not have access to electricity. Although the Agricultural Census indicates that, in general, there was an increase in access to this type of service, more than 16% of Brazilian family farmers did not have electricity in 2018, with greater concentration in the North and Northeast regions.

"For the greater reach of ICTS among farmers, government and civil society must propose a quick and effective modernization agenda in this area. This is an agenda for digital inclusion and technological adherence that will require a synergistic composition of different sectors of society".

[Transformação digital]

Thus, for the greater reach of ICTs among farmers, government and civil society must propose a quick and effective modernization agenda in this area. This agenda for digital inclusion and technological adherence will require a synergistic composition of different sectors of society, with the effective participation of different agencies and public bodies.

It is also about adapting to new consumption patterns, in line with sustainability and good production practices. Elements that are currently managed by traceability, certification of origin and other attributes that, in the ICT environment, add value to family farming.

Therefore, the intention is to move from a pattern of digital exclusion to a pattern of synergistic use of ICTs in a sustainable way for social, economic and environmental benefit.

Locations with higher poverty rates, notably more distant from the technological frontier, have more opportunities for growth and value generation when they manage to access investments for innovation and the improvement of the means of production. Access to these resources and the presence of institutions facilitating this process strongly contribute to local development35.

Some projects, such as AKSAAM, the result of a partnership between IFAD and the Federal University of Viçosa - UFV, demonstrate that achievements in this area are possible, and that it requires the engagement of other public and private bodies to enhance coverage and effects.

There is a strong connection between technology and family succession agendas, since ICTs directly influence keeping young people in the countryside, expanding horizons of well-being, learning and work. Conditions that are the basis for quality of life and human development.

The sociability of rural youth in interaction with different users, mediated by the digital connection, promotes in their imagination a relationship of autonomy regarding their decisions. That is, the expansion of social and interactive spaces promotes social legitimacy in the face of the territory19.

ACCESS TO LAND AND LAND REGULARIZATION



Access to land is a human right necessary for the full realization of a series of other rights. Therefore, it is a human right that unifies and enables other basic constitutional precepts, such as life and human dignity36.

In this way, democratic access to land is a central topic on the policy agenda for family farming, either by unlocking the farmers' own capacities to carry out their activities, or by enabling them to envision perspectives for growth and improvement in the quality of their livelihoods. These perspectives are nourished by the appropriation of economic residues derived from the individual or collective productive use of the land.

However, access to land goes far beyond having a piece of land for planting, since property has an even greater value of conquest and achievement in the imagination of farmers. For

"the resurgence of the debate on the redemocratization of access to land, as an inducer of quality of life, social development and human dignity, must be understood as one of the major inflection points in public policy between the current government and the one that preceded it"

[Access to land and land regularization]

traditional peoples and communities, land has a sacred value and their right to the land they traditionally occupy is constitutionally guaranteed. Therefore, it is more than a simple legal or economic formality of property rights. It is a matter of self-fulfillment by making the property the breadwinner of the family. For this reason, the Brazilian Federal Constitution assures indigenous peoples and quilombola communities (art. 68 and 231) the precedence and prevalence of tenure36. Land tenure, as a fundamental right, goes beyond physical aspects and determines a range of social, economic and environmental possibilities aligned with the concept of development and sustainability in its multiple aspects.

For this reason, the issue of demand for land and existing agrarian conflicts will require the reformulation of the main policies associated with the agrarian issue, stimulating multisectoral proposals for the qualified resumption of Agrarian Reform in the AFF.

In this area, the resurgence of the debate on the redemocratization of access to land as an inducer of quality of life, social development and human dignity must be understood as one of the major inflection points in current public policy, since, in recent years, there were no significant advances in this agenda.

Historically, Brazil has a low percentage of regularized properties and little integration between public policies for access and productive use of land, especially for small properties. This is why agrarian reform and land tenure regularization demand central space on the public policy agenda of the three spheres of government. It is no coincidence that in several rural regions of the country, there are permanent conflicts over access to and use of land. Family farmers are among the most vulnerable groups in this regard.

Between 1985 and 2019, Brazil implemented 9,367 settlement projects with the capacity to include 1,076,939 families. That means 78.3 million hectares of land, that is, 9.2% of the national territory. Although relevant, it was not enough to change the highly concentrated land structure37.

The percentage of owned land in Brazil is relatively low, with a disadvantage for the Northeast region where the property does not reach 80% of the total. The highest percentage of concession by land agency is observed in the Center-west region, where the size of the property is above the national average. Among farmers who do not have the definitive title to land ownership, more than 83% belong to Family Farming38.

Furthermore, there is a large concentration of land in the hands of a few, as demonstrated by the Gini index of the distribution of land tenure in Brazil, which equals 0.73. The 10% largest properties occupy 73% of the area and the 90% smallest properties occupy only 27% of the agricultural area, reinforcing existing disparities. In all Brazilian states, the 10% largest properties hold more than 50% of the area. In six states and in MATOPIBA (Maranhão, Tocantins, Piauí and Bahia) the 10% largest properties are equivalent to more than 70% of the area39.

Precisely in the North and Northeast regions, where there is a significant concentration of smaller family farming establishments, the concession rate is slightly higher than the average, as shown in Figure 12.



Figure 12. Percentage of own establishments and with land concession.

Own Granted by Land Authority

Source: IBGE.

The precarious means of access to land are worrying in these regions. In the North and Northeast, occupancy rates are approximately 3.9 and 3.6%. These regions also stand out among settlers and concessionaires, with the state of Maranhão leading with 9.3% of the total, followed by Ceará (8.2%), Bahia (7.8%) and Piauí with 6.5%40.

On the other hand, several studies have supported the positive relationship between the number of domain titles (DTs) and the value of production and planted area in the Brazilian states. Therefore, the strengthening of property rights, through development policies, tends to contribute to the economic development of agriculture41.

For family farming, the establishment of public policies for land tenure regularization is essential for maintaining conditions for sustainable growth, particularly in the North and Northeast regions. These actions would aim to guarantee legal, social, economic and environmental security for farmers, based on the ownership and productive use of the land. Several studies reinforce the contributions of land regularization to development. Among these contributions, the following stand out: better execution of environmental inspection, increased productivity, reduced deforestation and a more efficient use of land41.

The results indicate that some of the recent measures focused on land regularization, such as MP 910/2019, are not linked to data that favor vulnerable and excluded groups in Brazilian agriculture and, therefore, are not considered efficient39.

Furthermore, it is not just a matter of land tenure, but also of having access to the means of sustainable production to achieve the desired levels of development and quality of life. There is a need to connect the National Agrarian Reform Program (PNRA) to promotion strategies, such as credit, access to technology, technical assistance and the sale of family farming products. Especially in the search for markets with greater benefit for agricultural production.

CHANGES

Climate change manifests itself in different ways, among which global warming stands out42. The average global temperature in the year 2022 was already more than 1°C higher than the average temperature between 1850 and 1900, and the period 2015-2022, was the hottest on record43.

Behavioral and social theories of well-being explain how people's feelings and functions depend on how they relate to their environment and how they are enabled and limited by their environmental and social impacts44.

Despite the uncertainties that still exist in the debate on climate change, they can be considered the biggest global environmental problem today. They cause severe effects on public health, on the availability of water and energy, on the regularity of rainfall, and cause extreme weather events45,46.

These aspects have a direct impact on the living conditions and means of production of family farmers, indigenous peoples and traditional communities. This population is already impaired in terms of access to basic services, such as access to potable water, sewage and solid waste collection.

Recent studies have shown that climate change also has negative effects on conditions of vulnerability, development, food and nutrition security, and wellbeing47-49. Climate change can aggravate social exclusion and increase competition for scarce natural resources, in addition to forcing migration, increasing violence in the countryside and insecurity in its multiple aspects50.

Therefore, the relationship between climate change and food and nutrition security reinforces negative expectations "There is a need to implement crosscutting public policy agendas, due to the multidimensional nature of the problem and the fact that climate change is contributing to the advancement of hunger and vulnerability. Among the transversal aspects are poverty, access to technologies and technical assistance, access to land and means of production, in addition to educational and health capacities for building resilience conditions".

[Climate changes]

for development, especially for developing countries such as Brazil, if short- and long-term public policies are not promptly implemented.

Climate change interferes with the material circumstances in which people live, including the infrastructure and ecosystems through which people access goods and services such as clean air, education, energy, family and friends, food, health, housing, water and work44. Therefore, it is not just about production, food and survival in rural areas. It concerns the condition of survival with human quality and dignity. In this regard, it is important to emphasize that Brazil has suffered several episodes of natural disasters in recent years, in which climate change is attributed to one of the catalyst or conditioning elements.

Regions with a lower level of development, such as the North and Northeast of Brazil, are potentially more vulnerable and, therefore, are more susceptible to the consequences of environmental changes in levels of well-being and quality of life. As highlighted by Alpino and other authors47, climate change affects more intensely populations in poverty that face greater social inequality.

As demonstrated in the previous sections, the Brazilian regions with the lowest level of development and the highest level of vulnerability are also those most prone to the negative effects of climate change. Among these effects is the reduction of nutritional and health conditions49,51,52. More specifically, the intensification of water scarcity in biomes more susceptible to droughts and desertification processes, such as the Caatinga, has more potentially harmful effects on food security and social vulnerability.

Among the factors that intensify this vulnerability are the advances in agribusiness and mining activities in some regions, generally associated with deforestation and water contamination. Consequently, the means of production of family farmers, indigenous peoples and traditional communities are negatively affected. Deficiencies in access to public sanitation policies, such as potable water, sewage and regular garbage collection, aggravate this situation.

These are factors that reinforce the need to implement cross-cutting public policy agendas, due to the multidimensional nature of the problem, and the consideration that climate change is contributing to the advance of hunger and vulnerability in Brazil and in the world53. Among the transversal aspects are poverty, access to technologies and technical assistance, access to land and means of production, in addition to educational and health conditions.

These factors are potentiated by climate change. In this regard, several works present evidence of the inverse relationship between climate change and the level of human development, health conditions and quality of life 48,51,52. There is a clear link between climate change, agricultural and fisheries productivity, as well as negative effects on nutrition, health and food security54. The comparison between data from the 2006 and 2017 Agricultural Census indicates a decrease in the percentage of family farming establishments in the Northeastern Semiarid Region. Among the aspects that may have contributed to this, there is the drought that affected the Northeast between 2012 and 2017, leading many farmers to cease their activities. In addition, most establishments that closed their activities were those with an area of less than 0.1 hectares (ha), revealing the economic vulnerability that affects these farmers.

Thus, family farming is one of the sectors with the greatest urgency in introducing public policies to adapt to climate change. For family farming whose production is labor intensive, there are very pessimistic projections about the impact of climate change, in particular on the capacity and productivity of human labor, with the expectation of imposing new challenges on production and productivity.

It should be noted that agribusiness is closely linked with the degradation and contamination of the environment, directly reflecting on the health of the population. The expansion of this segment may put biomes such as the Cerrado, Amazon, Caatinga and Atlantic Forest at risk, contributing to the loss of biodiversity and the reduction of native vegetation cover58. On the other hand, family farming is a sustainable alternative as it does not degrade the environment and enables a reduction in greenhouse gas emissions.

In this way, the urgency of actions to mitigate the effects of these climate changes on family farming is evident and, through it, for global benefit. The current scenario demands sustainable agricultural strategies through integrated public policies and strategies to increase resilience in vulnerable regions, such as the North and Northeast, mainly. The ability to guarantee food security and nutritional adequacy in the face of climate change will be one of the determining aspects for the future of this century and, therefore, must occupy a central place in the development of public policies and in the formation of state capacities.

GENDER

Data from the 2017 Agricultural Census indicate that women headed less than 20% of agricultural establishments in Brazil. The gender ratio was more balanced in establishments with an area of less than 1 hectare (ha), where the ratio was 2 men to 1 woman. However, in the Northeastern Semiarid region, there was an increase of more than 48.5% in the proportion of women heading family farming establishments, revealing female empowerment and the need for their inclusion in the decision-making process inherent in the sector.20.

Gender inequality in the leadership of agricultural establishments is noticeable for all age groups, as shown in Figure 13. Still, about 25% of rural women could not read or write40 . These data reveal that the reality of women in rural areas is still marked by low access to essential public services, such as education, in addition to gaps in their ability to act in a leadership position in establishments.

It is important to emphasize that race and gender discrimination are not exclusive phenomena, highlighting the intersectionality of the theme62. This perspective demonstrates that oppression and domination are intertwined aspects in different generations, especially for black

Figure 13: Percentage of agricultural establishments by sex and age of producer.



Source: Based on the results of the 2017 Agricultural Census.

women, quilombolas (afro descendants) and other vulnerable population segments that face oppression in its most diverse ways63. Data from the Violence Map reveal that the black population is the main victim of homicides in Brazil, with an average of 23% more black women being murdered than white women64.

Despite the growing debate about women's empowerment in rural areas, this is still an incipient subject that needs attention from managers in the formulation of public policies. On a daily basis, women are responsible for food, clothing and hygiene for the family, in addition to other activities considered less important in daily work, playing a subordinate role and supporting the activities of men, even if their workload is similar. The invisible

"It is necessary to develop cross-Cutting capacities in policies, enabling women to play a greater role in the daily activities of family farming. With active participation in aspects such as production, commercialization and investments. In addition to programs that promote equity in access to land, means Of production, technology and elements that promote quality of life"

[Gender equity]

20.00

work of women in the countryside is still a hindrance to its recognition, despite its undeniable importance for the survival of the family65,66.

Cultural issues related to the daily lives of past generations contribute to the fact that even today women are left in the background, making it impossible for them to be an active agent in changing their reality67.

With the modernization of agriculture and the decrease in the workforce, male dominance is reproduced to the extent that men are responsible for investing in new technologies and technical support, managing resources, carrying out sales and contracts, among other important actions in the rural sphere68. In this sense, there is an overlap between the positions of father, farmer and head of the rural establishment, with the man being the provider of the family and the holder of the means of production66,69.

Thus, the dynamics of family farming, even with the advances experienced, is still marked by gender differences. Added to this is the lack of expressive data on rural women, where many of the available data are not disaggregated by household status (whether rural or urban). In addition to hampering the creation of targeted public policies, the lack of data contributes to the invisibility of women in the agricultural sector. Consequently, rural women are still little considered in social and economic development policies70. This gender inequality persists even in access to public policies, as is the case with Pronaf71, proving that the male role in tasks is reinforced and fed by traditional rural values.

The issue of gender in rural areas is also related to migration processes, where the departure of young people (including women) to cities contributes to the masculinization and aging of the rural population, in addition to increasing problems related to the generational succession of agricultural establishments69. The greater the division of tasks based on gender and the more segregated women are in carrying out agricultural activities, the lower the chances of them being successors in productive activities. With the decrease in the birth rate, this situation directly affects the continuity of establishments and the success of succession processes.

To change this situation and promote gender equity, some authors highlight, among other strategies, the importance of agroecology insofar as it considers the power dynamics present in food systems and opens up space for effective female participation in production, commercialization and management of surplus products, in addition to contributing to rural development72. Furthermore, it is worth highlighting the growing movement of women's refusal of the production model that reproduces gender inequalities, driven by greater access to information technologies73,74.

Greater female participation in rural credit access programs, enabling improvements in production units without greatly compromising the family budget, in addition to investing in technical training for female farmers and inclusion in other government programs, are also strategies that enable female protagonism in family farming75. Equity in access to land, education, leisure and culture are also important for female farmers to remain in rural areas, in addition to generating jobs and income for families66.

The collective involvement of women through the creation of associations, participation in social movements and holding debates, enable collective learning and, consequently, can provide important transformations towards women's autonomy and their greater engagement in family farming76.

Therefore, it is necessary to develop cross-cutting capacities in policies, aiming to enable women to play a greater role in the daily activities of family farming, with an active participation in aspects such as access to tangible resources (production, goods, credit, access to markets) and intangible resources (knowledge, new skills). It is also necessary to create programs that promote equity in access to land, means of production, technology and elements that promote quality of life.

Rescuing women's self-esteem and self-confidence, creating associations, encouraging professional qualification and technical training for women, as well as greater access to government programs, are important strategies for promoting gender equity. It is worth mentioning that for successful policies it is also necessary to make available data that really represent production and establishments from a gender perspective, in an effort to make women visible in family farming, enabling the understanding of existing gaps that demand attention..

FOOD AND NUTRITION SECURITY



Initially perceived as an individual issue, based on health aspects, food and nutrition security became a central topic of public policy, considered as an object of struggle against inequality and social vulnerability. Healthy and adequate food is a fundamental right of citizens, directly affecting health, well-being, work and quality of life.

This right goes beyond the act of eating, also involving access to quality food with the necessary nutrients to guarantee good living conditions78. In addition, the concept of food security presupposes food free of contaminants, with diversity, high nutritional value and respect for the culture and human rights of citizens.

The consequences of food insecurity and the multiple forms of malnutrition - malnutrition (chronic and acute), overfeeding (overweight and obesity) and the so-called "hidden hunger" (lack of micronutrients), triggered numerous public policies and intersectoral actions in Brazil80. As an example, we highlight the creation of the National School Feeding Program (PNAE) and its articulation with

"Policy makers need to be aware that food and nutrition security in family farming is not limited to providing means of access to food. but fundamentally to its production and equitable distribution, in addition to establishing adequate PUblic capacities to meet the needs other dimensions of human development".

[Food and nutrition security]

family farming and public purchases. The PNAE establishes that at least 30% of the resources for school feeding transferred by the federal government to municipalities and states must be used directly in the acquisition of products from family farming. The program present inducing actions, both for the local agricultural production and for the nutritional quality of food in schools and public organizations. This is true especially because a large part of this production is developed in agroecological systems.

Also noteworthy is the Food Acquisition Program (PAA), which promotes access to healthy and diversified food and the strengthening of family farming. These two programs constitute important means of promoting food and nutritional security, converging towards a society that is more respectful of current and future generations.

In this context, some important actions deserve to be highlighted. First, there is the Catrapovos Brasil, a commission formed by government institutions, indigenous leaders, traditional communities and civil society organizations aimed at promoting adequate nutrition in indigenous and traditional communities. Since its inception in 2016, more than 60 types of traditional foods have been included in school meals, benefiting around 24 cities in the Amazon and nearly 20,000 students83

Also noteworthy are the actions of the PAA aimed at rescuing and commercializing underutilized or neglected local and regional products, contributing to better nutrition for students. Such actions duly value indigenous peoples and traditional communities, recovering their knowledge and culture, in addition to promoting greater training for them.

There is also the materialization of a series of experiences associated with PANCs – Non-Conventional Food Plants, with the production of materials and booklets by public and private organizations and their adoption in practices to promote food and nutritional security.

Food and nutrition security becomes an important tool to achieve national food sovereignty, favoring family farmers in accessing institutional markets. Therefore, an intrinsic relationship is observed between family farming and food and nutritional security within the scope of Brazilian public policies.

However, population growth and the disproportion between demand and supply of food negatively affect the food security of the population, especially in developing countries. Data from Latin America and the Caribbean in 2020 indicated that 32.2% of men suffered from some degree of food insecurity, while almost 42% of women were affected89.In Brazil, relevant social problems such as malnutrition, hunger and difficult access to quality food relate to regional inequalities in social and economic terms, which compromise access to land and the means for food production. Food price inflation is also a constraint on healthy diets. In 2020 more than 3 billion people did not have the financial resources to buy adequate food, which represents an increase of 112 million individuals compared to the previous year.

Despite the implementation of public policies aimed at promoting food security, the disarticulation of actions and the extinction of important institutions caused a setback in the result of public actions. Between 2013 and 2018 there was an increase of more than 62% in the level of food insecurity in Brazil, with a sharp increase in the most severe degrees.

Data from the 2017-2018 Household Budget Survey revealed that the largest portion of the population experiencing food insecurity resided in the North and Northeast regions. This indicates that less than half of the residents of these locations had full and regular access to food. Figure 14 illustrates the situation of households in terms of food security by geographic region.

Figure 14: Percentage distribution of permanent private households by food security situation



Source: Household Budget Survey (IBGE) 2017-2018.

According to the 2nd National Survey on Food Insecurity in the Context of the Covid-19 Pandemic in Brazil, in 2022, only 4 out of 10 people had full access to food. In rural areas, the situation was worse, so that food insecurity, at some level, reached more than 60% of households, while almost 22% of family farmers were affected by hunger in that year.

The National Child Food and Nutrition Study - ENANI reinforces the need to break the pattern of intergenerational poverty, since 47% of families with children up to five years old experience food insecurity. This percentage exceeds 61% in the North region and reaches around 60%. It is also a multifaceted process that reinforces poverty patterns, since the prevalence of Brazilian children under 5 years of age with some degree of food insecurity was 40.0% among white, 51.2% among brown and 58.3% among black children.

However, as explained in the previous section, this is a multidimensional theme in the aegis of human development conditions. Reinforcing this argument, Silva et al.95 stated that food insecurity was associated with lack of access to basic health, low income, women-headed families and households with more than five residents. The lack of access to sanitation services and the difficulty in accessing essential public services such as education, in addition to inadequate eating habits, also contribute to the food insecurity of families.

In this sense, it is noted that environmental and social factors determine the health of individuals. These include food, housing, environment, means of transport, access to leisure, sports practices, public safety, income distribution, among many other elements96. All this contributes to the health levels of individuals. Therefore, policy makers must be aware that food and nutrition security in family farming is not limited to providing means of access to food, but fundamentally to its production and equitable distribution, in addition to establishing adequate public capacities for supply the other dimensions of human development.

It is also about the production of food, involving resources such as land, means of production and monetary resources. In this regard, the importance of family farming for the national economy stands out, as it produces varied and quality food for domestic consumption, in addition to contributing to the creation of jobs in the countryside. Family farmers are also responsible for maintaining agrobiodiversity in the countryside, a common theme in the various social demands that contribute to development based on local cultural and agricultural appreciation.

It is an effort to recover capabilities and reduce the harmful effects arising from regional disparities, since regions such as the North and Northeast concentrate, on average, the lowest socioeconomic and quality of life indicators.

It should be noted that climate change has an inverse effect on the food and nutritional security of family farmers themselves. These, in large part, have scarce resources and have their cultivated areas and production capacity seriously impacted by climate variability.

When analyzing the food insecurity of PNAE family farmers, for example, Trivellato et al.100 identified the association with indicators such as income, number of residents in the household and presence of children. In this study, income was the most important aspect, but not the only one to impact food security conditions. Therefore, the formulation of sectorial public policies must contemplate this audience, which historically is dedicated to the production of food for the country's internal supply without, in most cases, having enough income to ensure the necessary conditions for a dignified life.

Food and nutrition security systems stand out for their multisectoral nature. In addition to food safety, they provide protection for the environment; generate jobs and minimize social inequalities, as they allow for a more equitable distribution of added value; respect cultural diversity; incorporate citizen participation and; encourage social cohesion. For this reason, many authors defend the need to reorganize the dynamics of access to food so that they cease to be based on market interests and become the center of development strategies.

Given the factors associated with food and nutrition insecurity, actions must be based on the theme's intersectionality and promote cooperation between the different levels of government, encouraging income generation and improvement in housing and living conditions. In this sense, policies to strengthen family farming, improve health conditions, income and quality of life, in addition to raising awareness of the population about food and nutrition education, constitute important strategies for promoting food security.

AGROECOLOGY



Conventional agriculture is based on practices such as intensive soil cultivation, monoculture, irrigation and use of inorganic fertilizers, chemical pest control and genetic manipulation of cultivated plants. Such practices, which are the paradigm of contemporary production, disregard the ecological dynamics of agroecosystems.

Agroecology, in turn, concerns the transition from this model of conventional agriculture and development to sustainable styles of rural development and agriculture . This practice is, therefore, in line with important aspects of the sustainable development agenda of global interest, such as SDG- 17.

It refers, to integrated and holistic practices for the conservation and protection of biodiversity and natural resources. Immersed in a favorable political environment, agroecological practices are increasingly adopted by family farmers, peasants, traditional communities and indigenous peoples.

The sustainability of agroecological systems follows the precept that maximizing the production of a particular activity and the consequent maximization of economic results are not the central objective of agriculture.

Agroecological agriculture aims at optimizing the balance of the agroecosystem as a whole, which means the need for greater emphasis on knowledge, analysis and interpretation of the complex relationships that exist between people, crops, soil, water and animals.

It is a system that goes far beyond food production and is based on a set of holistic sustainable dimensions, namely: ecological, economic, social, cultural, political and ethical. "It is necessary to mobilize state capacities and support public policies so that, in partnership with multilateral agencies, research institutes and local NGOS, it becomes possible to promote agroecological practices adapted to the conditions of each region, respecting the culture and local practices".

[Agroecology]

In the semiarid regions, agroecological practices constitute one of the resilience strategies used as concept actions such as "living with the semiarid region" developed by NGOs in the Brazilian northeast. In general, they combine multiple approaches to production and empowerment of local communities, based on their own context. This is not a proposal of passivity in the face of poverty in the region. It is about building skills, means and resources for harmonious coexistence with the semiarid conditions of the region, in a productive and sustainable way. For some authors it is an approach to promote the reconciliation of agriculture with nature.

From this perspective, agroecology works synergistically with inclusion, gender, solidarity economy and adaptation to the effects of climate change actions. For these reasons, the encouragement and promotion of agroecological systems, as one of the central guidelines in family farming, contributes to advancing the sector's global agenda, with positive impacts on the level of human development, especially in the regions of greatest interest, as highlighted in the previous section.

As an emerging science, Agroecology carries concepts and methods that strengthen the establishment of dialogue between popular and scientific knowledge, a necessary condition for revitalizing local innovation as a social device for the development of agroecosystems strongly connected to natural ecosystems.

Agroecology constitutes an opportunity for the emergence of integrated and multidimensional solutions. It allows for the convergence of technical and local knowledge, developing new knowledge and enabling farmers to change their reality. Experiences show that the dissemination of agroecological practices by organizations such as IFAD are important moments in the appropriation of technologies for local development, as well as a space for exchanging knowledge and improving social relations among the farmers themselves.

Investing in this agenda means developing public policies that aim to contribute, directly or indirectly, to solving problems that involve training, building infrastructure, and managing the knowledge generated by the area. This strategy develops solutions that include not only agriculture itself, but also encompasses environmental protection, gender equity, social inclusion and the guarantee of food sovereignty for communities.

Santos and other authors highlight some of the difficulties faced by farmers, including: the accounting of production costs and determination of the final price of products, the lack of specialized technical advice in the area and the unavailability of water in several regions. In addition to these, other elements discussed such as technological inclusion, gender equity, access to land and means of production are extremely important factors.

To this end, it is necessary to mobilize state capacities and support public policies so that, in partnership with multilateral agencies, research institutes and local NGOs, agroecological practices will be encouraged and adapted to the conditions of each region, respecting the culture and local practices.

It is necessary to invest in the conservation of renewable resources, the conscious exploitation of non-renewable resources, and the diversification of plants and animals in coherence with the cultural, social and historical context of each region.

Therefore, it is important to develop regional public policies, with a bottom up approach, in addition to major public policies, with a top down approach, in credit and funding, insurance, acquisitions and institutional purchases, among others proved important for family farming over the last few decades.

The need for an agenda that establishes synergic and complementary foundations with the other agendas is highlighted, especially with food and nutritional security and reduction of the effects of climate change. Several studies have emphasized the positive effects of agroecological production, among them: minimizing the risk of soil and water contamination; the mitigation of erosion and deforestation problems; the conscious use of natural and non-renewable resources and; therefore, the contribution to the reduction of global warming and the slowdown of climate change.

The preservation of biodiversity is also pointed out, through the interaction of different plants and animals, through the diversity of cultures, as well as the organic matter and microorganisms that act in the soil.

However, complementary efforts are needed, through public policies aimed at processing, distribution, certification and commercialization in higher value-added markets, such as socioenvironmental monetization strategies. Likewise, the logistical improvement of the commercialization of short circuits and the expansion of comparative or equitable advantages in the acquisition process in the public procurement market is necessary.

At the local level, the partnership between public and private institutions for the establishment of collective commercialization spaces is enshrined as a successful strategy, especially through fairs of agroecological products and agroecological kiosks. These spaces represent, on the one hand, the possibility of greater added value for producers and, on the other hand, an alternative for the consumption of healthier and more sustainable products, in line with the values of social and environmental responsibility, also in line with the ODS- 17.

Many of these fairs rely on their own visual identity and seals as a way of certifying the origin of the products. However, in most cases, there is no structured policy in this regard. In general, the initiatives receive local support from NGOs, Development Organizations and public authorities, weakening their economic sustainability in the medium and long term.

There are very successful experiences with shared efforts, although there are also initiatives that survive thanks to civil organization projects and multilateral organizations. The waste of learning is also evident, since successful experiences could be shared and adapted to similar contexts. In this case, a greater effort is required to manage knowledge of experiences and successful practices of agroecological agriculture in regional contexts.

Agroecology research still receives a small investment compared to conventional agriculture, which consists of deeprooted obstacles for the sector. There are currently many opportunities to change this reality, especially with the establishment of the SDGs, given that agroecology can meet both dietary needs and pressing social and environmental issues.

There is a consensus among several authors that family farming has great potential for expanding the adoption of agroecological systems. Many familiar establishments are strengthening and increasing their income by adopting agroecological principles, with the diversification of products and socially constructed markets. These markets are directly aligned with the social, economic and environmental sustainability principles of this model.

FINAL REMARKS

In light of the information presented, one can see the relevance of family farming and its interconnections with various themes, enabling advances in important aspects such as gender equality, food sovereignty, the minimization of social vulnerabilities, the success of family succession processes in rural establishments, among others. The weaknesses of the sector are also perceived, especially in poorer communities and with worse development rates, in its broad dimensions. Therefore, there is a completely new agenda to be explored, aiming at expanding the benefits and the potential of this segment, with special attention to the North and Northeast regions of Brazil.



The multiple possibilities of using this document to reflect on and catalyze the resources needed to build an agenda for family farming and the capacities to implement it are clear. It is up to public agents, the private sector, the third sector and the society as a whole to articulate actions and public policies capable of transforming critical reflections and analytical dimensions into processes and public policies committed to the progress of family farming. Despite the obstacles to be surpassed, we are aware of the advances made and, even more, of the path that has to be taken to transform these analyzes into plans and plans into sustainable actions..

References:

- Mattei L. O papel e a importância da agricultura familiar no desenvolvimento rural brasileiro contemporâneo. Rev Econ Nordeste. 2014;45(5):83-92.
- 2. IFAD. Brazil: The Context [Internet]. 2023 [citado 27 de março de 2023]. Disponível em: https://www.ifad.org/en/web/operations/w/ country/brazil
- Povos indígenas no Brasil. Índios e o meio ambiente [Internet]. 2018 [citado 27 de março de 2023]. Disponível em: https://pib. socioambiental.org/pt/Índios_e_o_meio_ ambiente
- 4. IFAD. Indigenous Peoples: Building a more inclusive, sustainable future [Internet]. 2022 [citado 27 de março de 2023]. Disponível em: https://www.ifad.org/en/indigenous-peoples
- 5. Educa + Brasil. Conheça palavras de origem indígena do nosso cotidiano. https://www. educamaisbrasil.com.br/educacao/noticias/ conheca-palavras-de-origem-indigena-donosso-cotidiano. 2022.
- IFAD. Sustainable and resilient indigenous peoples' food systems for improved nutrition [Internet]. 2022 [citado 27 de março de 2023]. Disponível em: https://www.ifad. org/documents/38714170/45441820/ indigenous-peoples-foodsystem_toolbox. pdf/4437f11c-018e-5049-4d81-0e549a794f68?t=1651742366158
- 7. ALVES RNB. Características da agricultura indígena e sua influência na produção familiar da Amazônia. Ernbrapa Amazônia Oriental,. junho de 2001;1-23.
- 8. Kingdon JW. Agendas, alternatives, and public policies. Boston: : Little Brown ; 1984.
- Anderson A, Posey D. Manejo de cerrado pelos índios Kayapó. 1985 [citado 2 de fevereiro de 2023]; Disponível em: https:// repositorio.museu-goeldi.br/handle/ mgoeldi/575
- Hurtienne TP. Agricultura familiar e desenvolvimento rural sustentável na Amazônia. Novos Cadernos NAEA [Internet]. 2008 [citado 2 de fevereiro de 2023];8(1):19-71. Disponível em: http:// periodicos.ufpa.br/index.php/ncn/article/ view/47
- Abramovay R. Agricultura familiar e desenvolvimento territorial. Reforma Agrária - Revista da Associação Brasileira de Reforma Agrária. 1998;28(1):1-28.

- Silva GB, Botelho MI V. O processo histórico da modernização da agricultura no Brasil (1960-1979). Revista de geografia agrária. 2014;9(17):362-387.
- Tonneau JP, Aquino JR, Teixeira OA. Modernização da Agricultura Familiar e Exclusão Social: O Dilema das políticas agrícolas. Cadernos de Ciência & Tecnologia. 2005;22(1):67-82.
- De olho nos ruralistas. Observatório do agronegócio no Brasil [Internet]. 2023 [citado 27 de março de 2023]. Disponível em: https://deolhonosruralistas.com.br/
- Buainain AM. Agricultura familiar, agroecologia e desenvolvimento sustentável: questões para debate [Internet]. 10 ed. Vol.
 Brasília: IICA; 2006 [citado 9 de fevereiro de 2023]. 1-136 p. Disponível em: https:// repositorio.iica.int/handle/11324/7555
- Guimarães RR, Mesquita HA de. Agroecologia x agronegócio: crises e convivências. Espaço em Revista. 2010;12(2):1-17.
- Alentejano P. A hegemonia do agronegócio e a reconfiguração da luta pela terra e reforma agrária no Brasil. Caderno prudentino de geografia. 2020;4(42):251-85.
- Grisa C, Schneider S. Três gerações de políticas públicas para a agricultura familiar e formas de interação entre sociedade e estado no Brasil. Revista de economia e sociologia rural [Internet]. 2014 [citado 2 de fevereiro de 2023];52:125-46. Disponível em: https://www.scielo.br/j/resr/a/ rVgHTgTzPC9WDsndRgMPtmf/
- Redin E, Silveira PRC da, Guimarães GM, Santos VF dos. Juventude rural e novas formas de sociabilidade mediadas pelas TICs. Signos do consumo [Internet]. 2013 [citado 7 de fevereiro de 2023];5(2):225-44. Disponível em: https://www.revistas.usp.br/ signosdoconsumo/article/view/76390
- 20. Fortini RM. Um novo retrato da Agricultura Familiar do Semiárido Nordestino Brasileiro a partir dos dados do Censo Agropecuário 2017. Viçosa, MG: IPPDS, UFV; 2020.
- Matte A, Machado JAD. Tomada de decisão e a sucessão na agricultura familiar no sul do Brasil. Revista de Estudos Sociais. 2016;18(37):130-51.
- 22. Castro EG de. Entre ficar e sair: uma etnografia da construção social da categoria jovem rural. Rio de Janeiro: UFRJ; 2005.
- Chemin BF, Ahlert L. A sucessão patrimonial na agricultura familiar. Estudo & Debate. 2010;17(1):49–74.

- Panno F, Machado JAD. Influências na decisão do jovem trabalhador rural partir ou ficar no campo. Desenvolvimento em Questão. 2014;12(27):264–97.
- 25. Savian M. Sucessão geracional: garantindose renda continuaremos a ter agricultura familiar? Revista Espaço Acadêmico. 2014;14(159):97-106.
- Simioni FJ. Determinantes da renda familiar no espaço rural: uma revisão. Organizações Rurais & Agroindustriais. 2013;15(3):397-410.
- Abramovay R (coord), Silvestro M, Cortina N, Baldissera T, Ferrari D, Testa VM. Juventude e agricultura familiar: desafios dos novos padrões sucessórios. Brasília: Unesco; 1998. 101 p.
- Oliveira, Márcia Freire; Mendes, Luciano; Vasconcelos AC van H. Desafios à permanência do jovem no meio rural: um estudo de casos em Piracicaba-SP e Uberlândia-MG. Revista de Economia e Sociologia Rural. 2020;59.
- 29. Wilkinson J. O Estado, a agricultura e a pequena produção. Rio de Janeiro: Centro Edelstein de Pesquisas Sociais; 2008.
- Abramovay R, Silvestro M, Mello M, Dorigon C, Baldissera I. Os impasses sociais da sucessão hereditária na agricultura familiar. Florianópolis: Epagri; 2001.
- 31. Deopnti CM, Kist RBB, Machado A. As interrelações entre as TIC e a Agricultura Familiar. Revista Eletrônica Competências Digitais para Agricultura Familiar. 2017;3(1):4-23.
- 32. Franceschi E, Deggereoni, Z. A. Bombardelli CL. The use of Information and Communication Technologies in family farming: new ruralities in São Valentim - RS, Brazil. Revista Eletrônica Competências Digitais para Agricultura Familiar. 2020;6(2):8-119.
- 33. IFAD. Conectividade rural e inclusão digital como estratégias para a democratização da ATER: Oportunidades para o Brasil e Peru. Brasíila: Fida; GPP; 2021.
- 34. Branco TC (org). Práticas de ATER remota no contexto da pandemia da Covid-19: potencialidades, desafios e recomendações. Ouricuri, PE: Caatinga; 2021.
- 35. Rodrigues CT, Fortini RM, Lavorato MP. Relatório de Resultados e Impactos FIDA NO BRASIL 2022. 1a. Viçosa-MG: Instituto de Políticas Públicas e Desenvolvimento Sustentável (IPPDS-UFV); 2022.
- 36. Castro LFP. Agricultura familiar, habitus

e acesso à terra. Revista Brasileira de Sociologia do Direito [Internet]. 2015 [citado 6 de fevereiro de 2023];2(2):91-105. Disponível em: https://revista.abrasd.com.br/ index.php/rbsd/article/view/17

- Leite AZ, Mauro RA, Emmanuela K, Hora R. Reflexões sobre os mecanismos de obtenção de terras para reforma agrária no Brasil. Revista de Geografia Agrária [Internet]. 2021 [citado 17 de fevereiro de 2023];16(42):9– 42. Disponível em: https://repositorio.bc.ufg. br/handle/ri/20766
- 38. IBGE. Censo Agropecuário 2017. Rio de Janeiro; 2017.
- 39. Fernando L, Pinto G, Guidotti De Faria V, Sparovek G, Reydon BP, Ramos CA, et al. QUEM SÃO OS POUCOS DONOS DAS TERRAS AGRÍCOLAS NO BRASIL-O MAPA DA DESIGUALDADE. Imaflora: Sustentabilidade em Debate. 2020;10:1–21.
- 40. IBGE. Censo Agropecuário 2017 [Internet]. Censo Agropecuário 2017. Resultados Definitivos. 2017. Disponível em: https:// sidra.ibge.gov.br/pesquisa/censoagropecuario/censo-agropecuario-2017/ resultados-definitivos
- 41. Gómez R, Vieira Filho JER. Texto para Discussão 2851: Regularização Fundiária No Brasil: Avanços E Desafios. Brasília; 2023.
- 42. Cunha DA. Mudanças climáticas e convivência com o semiárido brasileiro. Viçosa-MG: UFV; 2022.
- 43. WMO. Provisional State of the Global Climate in 2022 [Internet]. Wmo. World Meteorological Organization (WMO); 2022. 26 p. Disponível em: https://library.wmo.int/ index.php?lvl=notice_display&id=22156#. Y2yBqXZBwdW
- 44. Adger W, Barnett J, Heath S, Jarillo S. Climate change affects multiple dimensions of wellbeing through impacts, information and policy responses. Nat Hum Behav [Internet]. 2022 [citado 16 de fevereiro de 2023];1–9. Disponível em: https://www.nature.com/ articles/s41562-022-01467-8
- 45. Marengo JA. Água e mudanças climáticas. Estudos Avançados. 2008;22(63):83–96.
- Lima GF da C, Layrargues PP. Mudanças climáticas, educação e meio ambiente: para além do Conservadorismo Dinâmico. Educar em Revista. 2014; (Edição Especial n. 3):73-88.
- 47. Alpino T de MA, Mazoto ML, Barros DC de, Freitas CM de. Os impactos das mudanças climáticas na Segurança Alimentar e Nutricional: uma revisão da literatura. Cien

Saude Colet. 2022;27(4):273-86.

- 48. Berry EM, Dernini S, Burlingame B, Meybeck A, Conforti P. Food security and sustainability: can one exist without the other? Public Health Nutr. 2015;18(13):2293-302.
- 49. Zakar M, Zakar D, Fischer F. Changing climate and resource use efficiency in plants. South Asian Studies. 2020;27(2):293–312.
- 50. Barnett J. Environmental security. v. 1. Routledge; 2018.
- 51. Butler, C.Hanigan I. Anthropogenic climate change and health in the Global South. The International Journal of Tuberculosis and Lung Disease. 2019;23(12):1243–52.
- 52. Shah S, Nazir A. Linkages between Food Security and Human Well Bing in South Asia: An Empirical Analysis. Bulletin of Business and Economics (BBE). 2018;7(4):197-207.
- 53. Butler CD. Food security in the Asia-Pacific: climate change, phosphorus, ozone and other environmental challenges. Asia Pac J Clin Nutr [Internet]. 2009 [citado 16 de fevereiro de 2023];18(4):590-7. Disponível em: https://search.informit.org/doi/ abs/10.3316/ielapa.713612200585037
- 54. Myers SS, Smith MR, Guth S, Golden CD, Vaitla B, Mueller ND, et al. Climate Change and Global Food Systems: Potential Impacts on Food Security and Undernutrition. Annu Rev Public Health. 2017;38:259–77.
- 55. Zander K, Botzen W. Heat stress causes substantial labour productivity loss in Australia. Nat Clim Chang [Internet]. 2015 [citado 16 de fevereiro de 2023];5(7):647-51. Disponível em: https://idp.nature.com/ authorize/casa?redirect_uri=https://www. nature.com/articles/nclimate2623&casa_ token=alfvfHMziDMAAAAA:DMoQ1S5uKfs_ BnRQiiAG9EDdoyiOW7TV24HboZTQ-I-YIKxJRcOEUJR_xg69zmm1_ AaxTL8enMFQCw
- 56. Oleson KW, Monaghan A, Wilhelmi O, Barlage M, Brunsell N, Feddema J, et al. Interactions between urbanization, heat stress, and climate change. Clim Change. 1o de abril de 2015;129(3-4):525-41.
- 57. Kjellstrom T, Briggs D, Freyberg C, Lemke B, Otto M, Hyatt O. Heat, Human Performance, and Occupational Health: A Key Issue for the Assessment of Global Climate Change Impacts. Annu Rev Public Health. 18 de março de 2016;37:97-112.
- 58. Folgado C. Agroecologia: uma forma de promoção da saúde ao enfrentar a doença do agronegócio. Tempus - Actas de Saúde

Coletiva. 2014;8(2):297-303.

- 59. Costa Junior C, Potenza RF, Quintana G de O, Piatto M. Balanço das emissões e remoções de gases de efeito estufa na agricultura familiar. São Félix do Xingu: Imaflora; 2019.
- 60. Costa AG da. Inventário das emissões de gases de efeito estufa e respectiva valoração econômica dos serviços ambientais, provenientes da produção orgânica de alimentos em unidade familiar. Dissertação (Mestrado em Tecnologia Ambiental) -Universidade Federal Fluminense, Volta Redonda; 2016.
- DESER CEMTR/PR. Gênero e agricultura familiar: cotidiano de vida e trabalho na produção de leite. Curitiba: DESER - CEMTR/ PR; 1996.
- Crenshaw K. Documento para o encontro de especialistas em aspectos da discriminação racial relativos ao gênero. Estud Fem. 2002;1(10):171-88.
- 63. Grossi PK, Oliveira SB de, Oliveira J da L. Mulheres quilombolas, violência e as interseccionalidades de gênero, etnia, classe social e geração. Revista de Políticas Públicas. 2018;22:929-48.
- 64. Waiselfisz JJ. Mapa da violência 2015: homicídio de mulheres negras no Brasil. 10 ed. Brasília: Flacso Brasil; 2015.
- 65. Ramos CP. Mulheres rurais atuando no fortalecimento da agricultura familiar local. Gênero. 2014;15(1):29-48.
- 66. Mesquita LAP de. Relações de Gênero na Comunidade Rancharia: o trabalho das mulheres na agricultura familiar. Revista Latino-americana de Geografia e Gênero. 2014;5(1):98-113.
- 67. Gubert FPP, Hanzen M, Recalcatti JF, Coltre SM. Empoderamento feminino na agricultura familiar. Revista Fitos [Internet]. 2020;14(Supl):23-30. Disponível em: www. revistafitos.far.fiocruz.br
- 68. Brumer A. Gênero e Agricultura: a situação da mulher na agricultura do Rio Grande do Sul. Estud Fem. 2004;12(1):205-27.
- 69. Brumer A, Anjos G dos. Gênero e reprodução social na agricultura familiar. Revista NERA. 2008;11(12):6-17.
- Hora K, Nobre M, Butto A. As mulheres no censo agropecuário 2017. São Paulo: Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftung, Abra; 2021.
- 71. Melo LA DE. Relações de gênero na agricultura familiar: o caso do Pronaf em Afogados da Ingazeira-PE [Tese (Doutorado

em Sociologia) - Universidade Federal de Pernambuco, Recife]. Tese (Doutorado em Sociologia) - Universidade Federal de Pernambuco, Recife; 2003.

- 72. Silva ATB, Nascimento R da S, Gores J. Agroecologia, relações produtivas e de gênero na agricultura familiar: o estudo de caso da Associação de Produtores Agroecológicos Sementes do Futuro de Atalanta-SC. Ágora [Internet]. 2015;17(2):131-43. Disponível em: http:// online.unisc.br/seer/index.php/agora/index
- 73. Silva CMV, Valente ALEF. Agricultura Familiar, Gênero e Dinâmicas Sociais: um estudo sobre a construção territorial do assentamento Nova Lagoa Rica. RESR. 2013;51(2):387-400.
- 74. Schwartz C. Relações de gênero e apropriação de tecnologias de informação e comunicação na agricultura familiar de Santa Maria-RS. Tese (Doutorado em Extensão Rural) - Universidade Federal de Santa Maria, Santa Maria; 2012.
- 75. Sousa GMB de, Lima FAX, Vargas LP, Jota TAF, Silva DFL da. A extensão rural e a perspectiva de gênero na agricultura familiar: a atuação do IPA junto à Associação Municipal Mulher Flor do Campo. Extensão Rural. 2016;23(2):46-59.
- 76. Pio J do CJ, Hirata AR, Pereira VS, Oliveira M de LS de. Os processos de aprendizagem de um grupo de mulheres para superação das desigualdades de gênero na agricultura familiar. Cadernos de Agroecologia. 2022;17(3).
- 77. Aliaga MA, Santos SMC dos, Trad LAB. Segurança alimentar e nutricional: significados construídos por líderes comunitários e moradores de um bairro popular de Salvador, Bahia, Brasil. Cad Saude Publica. 2020;36(1):18–15.
- 78. Sousa JMM de. Do direito humano à alimentação e à segurança alimentar ao direito à terra: reflexões necessárias em políticas públicas. Oikos: Família e Sociedade em Debate. 22 de agosto de 2020;31(1):264-82.
- 79. Lopes SO, Morais D de C, Priore SE, Santos RHS (orgs). Diálogos sobre segurança alimentar e nutricional [Internet]. Viçosa, MG: IPPDS, UFV; 2022. 42 p. Disponível em: https://aksaam.ufv.br/pt-BR/publicacoes
- Alves KP de S, Jaime PC. The national food and nutrition policy and its dialogue with the national food and nutrition security policy. Ciência e Saúde Coletiva. 10 de novembro de 2014;19(11):4331-40.

- Santos TTB dos, Torres RL. Efeitos do acesso ao mercado institucional sobre a segurança alimentar e nutricional no município de Almirante Tamandaré, Paraná. Revista de Economia e Sociologia Rural. 2023;61(2):1-20.
- Marques FJ, Ponzilacqua MHP. Mercados institucionais: garantia de desenvolvimento rural sustentável e segurança alimentar e nutricional. Revista Katálysis. dezembro de 2022;25(3):498–506.
- 83. Ministério Público Federal. Catrapovos Brasil [Internet]. A Catrapovos. 2023 [citado 28 de março de 2023]. Disponível em: https:// www.mpf.mp.br/atuacao-tematica/ccr6/ catrapovosbrasil/a-catrapovos
- 84. FAO, IFAD, PAHO, UNICEF W. Regional Overview of Food Security and Nutrition – Latin America and the Caribbean 2022: towards improving affordability of healthy diets. Santiago: FAO; 2023. 156 p.
- 85. Vidal MC, Hello FA, Madeira NR. Segurança alimentar e alimentação saudável para todos. Em: MEDEIROS, CAB et al Fome zero e agricultura sustentável: contribuições da Embrapa. 2018. p. 25–32.
- 86. Zacharias AO, Carvalho H, Madeira NR. Hortaliças PANC: segurança alimentar e nicho de mercado. 2021.
- 87. Nascimento SGS, Becker C, Silva FN da, Caldas NV, Ávila MR de. Produção agroecológica e Segurança Alimentar e Nutricional (Brasil). Revista de Ciências Agrárias [Internet]. 2019;42(1):294–304. Disponível em: https://doi.org/10.19084/ RCA18223
- 88. Mesquita P dos S. Segurança Alimentar, Mudanças Climáticas e Proteção Social no Semiárido Brasileiro (Cariri, Ceará). Tese (Doutorado em Desenvolvimento Sustentável) - Universidade de Brasília, Brasília; 2015.
- 89. FAO; FIDA; OPS; WFP; UNICEF. América Latina y el Caribe - Panorama regional de la seguridad alimentaria y nutricional 2021: estadísticas y tendencias. Santiago de Chile: FAO; 2021.
- 90. Kirch AT, Copatti LC. O direito à alimentação de crianças e adolescentes: uma discussão acerca do papel dos poderes do Estado e da sociedade civil em prol da concretização. Revista de Estudos Jurídicos da UNESP. 2013;17(26).
- 91. FAO, IFAD, UNICEF W and WHO 2022. The State of Food Security and Nutrition in the World 2022. Repurposing food and agricultural policies to make healthy diets more affordable. Rome: FAO; 2022.

- 92. IBGE. Pesquisa de Orçamentos Familiares 2017-2018: análise da segurança alimentar no Brasil. Rio de Janeiro: IBGE; 2020. 69 p.
- 93. Rede Brasileira de Pesquisa em Soberania e Segurança Alimentar e Nutricional. Food Insecurity and Covid-19 in Brazil. Rede PENSSAN: 2022.
- 94. Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro. Características sociodemográficas: aspectos demográficos, socioeconômicos e de insegurança alimentar. Rio de Janeiro: UFRJ; 2021. 104 p.
- 95. Silva B de MA, Silveira VN da C, Padilha LL, Frota MTBA. Situação de insegurança alimentar e nutricional em famílias quilombolas maranhenses. DEMETRA: Alimentação, Nutrição & Saúde. 31 de agosto de 2020;15(1-14):e43636.
- 96. Albuquerque GSC de, Silva MJ de S e. Sobre a saúde, os determinantes da saúde e a determinação social da saúde. Saúde em Debate. 2014;38(103):953-65.
- 97. Cardoso E dos S, Pedri ECM de, Yamashita OM. Políticas públicas, agricultura familiar e segurança alimentar e nutricional no Brasil e em Mato Grosso. Nativa [Internet]. 2018 [citado 22 de fevereiro de 2023];6(2):124–33. Disponível em: https:// periodicoscientificos.ufmt.br/ojs/index.php/ nativa/article/view/4523
- 98. Soares KR, Ferreira EE da S, Seabra Junior S, Neves SMA da S. Extrativismo e produção de alimentos como estratégia de reprodução de agricultores familiares do assentamento seringal, Amazônia Meridional. Revista de Economia e Sociologia Rural. 10 de outubro de 2018;56(4):645-62.
- 99. Marchetti F, Marques PEM, Santos JD dos, Campelo e Silva FO. Caminhos da reforma agrária no Brasil e suas implicações para a agrobiodiversidade. Estudos Sociedade e Agricultura. 10 de junho de 2020;28(2):284.
- 100. Trivellato PT, Priore SE, Franceschini SDCC, Santos RHS, Costa BAL. Food and nutrition (in)security in families of farmers who supply the national school feeding program. Revista de Nutrição. 2019;32:1-10.
- 101. Caume DJ. Segurança Alimentar, Reforma Agrária e Agricultura Familiar. Revista UFG. 2017;5(1):36–9.
- 102. Bricas N, Barles S, Billen G, Routhier JL. Urbanization Issues Affecting Food System Sustainability. Em: Brand, Caroline; Bricas, Nicolas; Conaré, Damien; Daviron, Benoit; Debru, Julie; Michel, Laura; Soulard Christophe-Toussaint (eds) Designing Urban Food Policies Concepts and Approaches. Toronto: Springer; 2019. p. 1–25.

- Grisa C, Porto SI. Políticas alimentares e referenciais setoriais na trajetória brasileira. Revista de Economia e Sociologia Rural. março de 2023;61(3):1-20.
- 104. Buarque Cristina. perspectiva de gênero debates e questões para as ongs - Google Acadêmico [Internet]. 10 ed. SOS CORPO Gênero e Cidadania, organizador. Vol. 1. Recife: SOS CORPO GÍnero e Cidadania; 2002 [citado 8 de fevereiro de 2023].
 1–192 p. Disponível em: https://scholar. google.com.br/scholar?hl=pt-BR&as_ sdt=0%2C5&q=perspectiva+de+gener 0+debates+e+quest%C3%B 5es+para+as+ongs&btnG=
- 105. Caporal FR, Costabeber JA. Agroecologia: enfoque científico e estratégico. Agroecologia e desenvolvimento rural sustentável [Internet]. 2002 [citado 9 de fevereiro de 2023];3(2):13-6. Disponível em: https://www.ufsm.br/cursos/posgraduacao/santa-maria/ppgagro/wpcontent/uploads/sites/519/2019/10/31.pdf
- 106. IFAD. Agroecología para sistemas alimentarios sostenibles [Internet]. 2023 [citado 28 de março de 2023]. Disponível em: https://www.ifad.org/es/agroecologyfor-sustainable-food-systems
- Gamarra-Rojas G, Fabre N. Agroecologia e mudanças climáticas no Trópico Semiárido. Revista do Desenvolvimento regional. 2017;22(2):174-88.
- 108. Silva RMA. Entre o combate à seca e a convivência com o Semiárido: políticas públicas e transição paradigmática. Revista Econômica do Nordeste, Fortaleza. 2007;38(3).
- 109. Petersen PF, Von Der Weid JM, Fernandes GB. Agroecologia: reconciliando agricultura e natureza. Informe Agropecuário Belo Horizonte. 2009;30(252):7-15.

 Ramos CH de S. Neacs - Núcleo de Estudos em Agroecologia e convivência com o semiárido: Capitalização de Experiência. 10 ed. Salvador: Luna Iniciativas Culturais; 2019.

111. Inovando em Agroecologia. Cartilha Agroecológica de Produção Familiar [Internet]. Salvador: Portal Semear; 2018. Disponível em: http://portalsemear.org.br/ wp-content/uploads/2018/03/Arte-Cartilha-Pronta.pdf

 Santos C, Siqueira E, Araujo I, Maia Z. A agroecologia como perspectiva de sustentabilidade na agricultura familiar. Ambiente & Sociedade [Internet]. 2014 [citado 8 de fevereiro de 2023];17(2):33-52. Disponível em: https://www.scielo.br/j/ asoc/a/Q8YfrW7m6mLWBWBcmcbKKrQ/

abstract/?lang=pt

- 113. Simón Fernández X, Dominguez Garcia D. Desenvolvimento rural sustentável: uma perspectiva agroecológica. Revista Agroecologia e Desenvolvimento Rural Sustentável [Internet]. 2001 [citado 9 de fevereiro de 2023];2(2):17-26. Disponível em: https://www.projetovidanocampo.com. br/agroecologia/desenvolvimento_rural_ sustentavel.pdf
- 114. Vargas DL, Fontoura AF, Wizniewsky JG. Agroecologia: base da sustentabilidade dos agroecossistemas. Geografia Ensino & Pesquisa [Internet]. 2013 [citado 9 de fevereiro de 2023];17(1):173–80. Disponível em: https://periodicos.ufsm.br/index.php/ geografia/article/view/8748
- 115. Biovision Foundation for Ecological Development & IPES-Food. Money Flows: What is holding back investment in agroecological research for Africa? Biovision Foundation for Ecological Development & International Panel of Experts on Sustainable Food Systems. Biovision, IPES; 2020.
- DeLonge MS, Miles A, Carlisle L. Investing in the transition to sustainable agriculture. Environ Sci Policy. 2016;55(1):266-73.
- 117. Ploeg J. Dez qualidades da agricultura familiar. Cadernos de debate [Internet]. 2014 [citado 8 de fevereiro de 2023];1(1):1-16. Disponível em: http://bibliotecadigital.abong. org.br/xmlui/bitstream/handle/11465/374/ ASPTA_dez_qualidades_agricultura_familiar. pdf?sequence=1



appendix i. research methodological note

For the construction of the indicators used within the text, variables or sets of variables that could adequately represent each dimension were selected. Initially, each variable was transformed into an index that varied between 0 and 1. This transformation was carried out according to the following equation (1):

$$Value_{1} = \frac{(Value - Value_{min})}{(Value_{max} - Value_{min})} (1)$$

in which *Value_{max}* e *Value_{min}* refer, respectively, to the maximum and minimum values observed in the original set of values. The construction of the raw index was based on the average of the values obtained, considering all the variables that make up the indicators. For example, the municipal development indicator is formed by three variables (GDP, General IFDM and IFGF). Each of the variables was transformed, the values for each municipality were added and divided by 3. Finally, equation 1 was used again.

Once the index was built, the values were divided into 5 groups, according to the mean and standard deviation (SD) values. Due to the high values of standard deviation in relation to the mean, for the indicators of Public Investment Capacity and Operational Capacity in Agriculture, $\pm 1/2$ SD and $\pm 1/4$ SD were used instead of ± 1 SD and $\pm 1/2$ SD, respectively.

Table 1 contains the description of each of the indicators and the variables that compose them.

Table 1: description of indicators used in the research

Indicator	Description of variables	Measurement scale	Source	Year
	Gross Domestic Product per capita, at current prices (R\$ 1.00)	R\$	IBGE	2020
Municipal Development	Firjan Municipal Development Index, general category	Index, from 0 to 1	Firjan	2018 (base- year 2016)
	Firjan Tax Management Index	Index, from 0 to 1	Firjan	2019
	Per capita amounts spent with the Bolsa Família Program	R\$	Ministry of Citizenship	2019
Socio- environmental Vulnerability	Families enrolled in the Unified Registry for Social Programs. Percentage of resident families registered in the Unified Registry with per capita family income of up to half the minimum wage over the total number of families registered.	%	MDS/Ministry of Citizenship, obtained through the Sustainable Cities Program	2019
	Percentage of live births whose mothers were 19 years old or younger out of the total live births of resident mothers.	%	Datasus, via the Sustainable Cities Program	2019
	Number of hospitalizations that occurred as a result of diseases related to inadequate sanitation (DRSAI), per 100,000 inhabitants.	100,000 inhabitants	Datasus, via the Sustainable Cities Program	2019

Childhood and Nutritional Vulnerability	Number of children born alive weighing less than 2.5 kg over the total number of live births in the municipality.	%	Datasus, via the Sustainable Cities Program	2019
	Number of malnourished children under 5 years old over the total number of children in this age group.	%	SISVAN, via the Sustainable Cities Program	2020
	Number of deaths of children under one year old over the total number of children born alive to resident mothers, times 1,000.	1,000 live births	Datasus, via the Sustainable Cities Program	2019
	Number of live births whose mothers had 7 or more prenatal consultations out of the total number of live births in the municipality.	%	Datasus, via the Sustainable Cities Program	2019
Health Capacities	Population coverage by family health teams over municipality's population.	%	Datasus, via the Sustainable Cities Program	2020
	Number of public basic health care units, per 1,000 inhabitants.	1,000 inhabitants	Datasus, via the Sustainable Cities Program	2019
Public Investment Capacity	Value of revenues collected in the municipality over the total amount of revenues of the municipality	%	Siconfi, via the Sustainable Cities Program	2019
Operational Capacity in Agriculture	Total number of existing tractors, implements and machinery per 100 rural establishments	Maquinário a cada 100 estabelecimentos	IBGE - Census of Agriculture	2017
Technical Assistance in Agriculture	Number of rural establishments that receive some type of technical assistance over the total number of rural establishments in the municipality	%	IBGE - Census of Agriculture	2017
	Number of female councilors in the City Council over the total number of councilors	%	TSE, via the Sustainable Cities Program	2020
Female Engagement Potential	Number of women-headed rural establishments over the total number of rural establishments	%	IBGE - Census of Agriculture	2017
	Number of women who can read and write over the total number of women who run rural establishments (producer or manager)	%	IBGE - Census of Agriculture	2006
Educational Potential	Number of elementary schools with internet access over the total number of public schools	%	INEP, via the Sustainable Cities Program	2019
	Score of the Basic Education Development Index (IDEB) in the municipal network in the early years of elementary school.	Index	INEP, via the Sustainable Cities Program	2019
	Elementary School Teachers from the Public Education Network with higher education	%	INEP, via the Sustainable Cities Program	2019

Vulnerability in Public Safety	Number of homicide deaths, in the 15 to 29 age group (inclusive) that occurred in the municipality, per 100,000 inhabitants.	100 mil habitantes	Datasus, via the Sustainable Cities Program	2019
	Number of feminicides per 100,000 women.	100 mil mulheres	Datasus, via the Sustainable Cities Program	2019
Access to Sanitation	Total population served with water supply over the total population of the municipality	%	SNIS	2019
	Recovery of selectively collected urban solid waste. Recovery rate of recyclable materials (except organic matter and waste) in relation to the total collected.	%	SNIS, via the Sustainable Cities Program	2019
Environment and Sustainability	Urban population served with selective collection over the total urban population.	%	SNIS, via the Sustainable Cities Program	2019
	Number of risk management and natural disaster prevention strategies adopted over the number of recommended strategies (25)	%	Munic-IBGE, via the Sustainable Cities Program	2020
	Number of existing environmental protection financing instruments in the municipality over the number of available environmental protection financing instruments (6)	%	Munic-IBGE, via the Sustainable Cities Program	2020
Social Control and Accountability	Number of internal control and anti- corruption instruments and policies existing in the municipality over the number of internal control and anti- corruption instruments and policies available (7)	%	Munic-IBGE, via the Sustainable Cities Program	2019
	Number of thematic councils for structuring policies for participation and promotion of human rights in the municipality over the total number of councils available (7)	%	Munic-IBCE, via the Sustainable Cities Program	2019
	Number of instruments and transparency policies existing in the municipality over the number of instruments and transparency policies available (6)	%	Munic-IBCE, via the Sustainable Cities Program	2019
Public Policies for Family Farming	Value of acquisitions from family farming over the amount transferred from FNDE	%	FNDE	2017
	Number of rural establishments with PRONAF-B funding over the total number of rural establishments	%	IBGE - Census of Agriculture	2017
Mechanization Agreements	Mechanization Agreements	Qty.	PLATFORM + BRASIL	2019-2022
	Mechanization Agreements over the number of Federal Deputies	Qty./Deputy	PLATFORM + BRASIL	2019-2022

Sorce: Made by the authors.

